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STATE BOARD OF REGISTRATION	)
FOR THE HEALING ARTS,	)
		)
		Petitioner,	)
			)
	vs.		)		No. 10-0469 HA
			)
CARLOS A. SALGUEIRO, M.D.,	)
			)
		Respondent.	)



DECISION

	Carolos A. Salgueiro, M.D., is subject to discipline for violating state and federal drug laws, and because his controlled substance authority was limited and restricted when it was placed on probation.
Procedure
	On March 30, 2010, the State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Salgueiro.  On May 17, 2010, Salgueiro filed an answer to the complaint.  On November 29, 2010, the Board filed a motion for summary decision and a memorandum in support.  On December 17, 2010, Salgueiro filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion, including a response to the Board’s statement of uncontroverted material facts, and on January 3, 2011, the Board filed a reply to the response.



	Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(5) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Board establishes facts that (a) Salgueiro does not genuinely dispute and (b) entitle the Board to a favorable decision. 
	The following facts, as established by the Board’s evidence, Salgueiro’s answer, and his memorandum in opposition to the motion for summary decision, are undisputed.

[bookmark: sp_999_1][bookmark: SDU_1]Findings of Fact
1.  Salgueiro is licensed by the Board as a physician and surgeon, which was first issued on May 5, 1999.  Salgueiro’s license was current and active at all times mentioned herein.
	2.  Salgueiro primarily practices in the area of psychiatry, and his registered Missouri place of business is Twin Rivers Regional Medical Center, 1401 First Street, Kennett, Missouri, while his primary practice address is 208 N. Fifth Street, Blytheville, Arkansas.
	3.  The Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (“BNDD”) is a bureau within the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services, an agency of the State of Missouri.
	4.  Salgueiro’s practice address at 907 Reed Street in Hayti, Missouri, had been registered with BNDD until June 25, 2008, when he or his staff member acting on his behalf faxed to BNDD a request to change his practice address to 310 North Main in Hayti, Missouri.
	5.  During a visit to Salgueiro’s practice on February 18, 2009, a BNDD investigator advised Salgueiro that the “310 North Main, Hayti, MO” address on the change of address form submitted by Salgueiro to BNDD was incorrect and did not exist, and that the correct address was “310 East Main, Hayti, MO.”
	6.  On February 23, 2009, Salgueiro submitted another change of address form to BNDD, this time stating that he had changed his address from 907 E. Reed Street, in Hayti, to 310 East Main Street, in Hayti, as of July 2, 2008.


	7.  Salgueiro did not have a United States Drug Enforcement Administration Registration (“DEA registration”) from the State of Missouri, but did have a DEA registration from Arkansas.
8.  Salgueiro prescribed controlled substances in Missouri between February 23, 2009, and March 30, 2009.
9.  On or about August 7, 2009, Salgueiro entered into a settlement agreement with BNDD stipulating to the above facts, and his BNDD registration was placed on probation for a period of three years.[footnoteRef:1] [1: A copy of the settlement agreement is attached to this decision.] 

 	10.  In the settlement agreement, Salgueiro stipulated to violating the following drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state, or the federal government:  § 195.030.2;[footnoteRef:2]  [2: RSMo 2000.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2010.] 

19 CSR 30-1.017(4); 19 CSR 30-1.019; 19 CSR 30-1.023; 21 CFR 1301.11; 21 CFR 1301.13(a); § 195.070.1;[footnoteRef:3] § 195.252.1(1);[footnoteRef:4] 19 CSR 30-1.031(1); § 195.040.3(1), (2), (4), and (7).[footnoteRef:5] [3: Id.]  [4: Id.]  [5: Id.] 

Conclusions of Law
	We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.[footnoteRef:6]  The Board has the burden of proving that Salgueiro has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.[footnoteRef:7]  The Board alleges that there is cause for discipline under § 334.100.2(13) and (23): [6: Section 621.045.  ]  [7: Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).] 

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered the person's certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes: 
*   *   *

(13) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government; 
*   *   *
(23) Revocation, suspension, limitation or restriction of any kind whatsoever of any controlled substance authority, whether agreed to voluntarily or not[.]
More specifically, the Board alleges that because Salgueiro entered into a settlement agreement with BNDD that put his controlled substance registration on probation, he is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2(23), and further, that because he stipulated in the settlement agreement to several violations of state and federal drug laws, he is also subject to discipline under 
§ 334.100.2(13).  
I.  Affirmative Defenses
	Salgueiro raises several “affirmative defenses” in his answer to the complaint.  Because when a claimant moves for a summary decision, the claimant must not only show that there is no genuine issue of fact as to the movant’s claim, but must also establish the non-viability of the non-movant’s properly pleaded affirmative defenses,[footnoteRef:8] we address each of Salgueiro’s defenses.  The Board argues that Salgueiro’s affirmative defenses are mere conclusory statements and not properly pleaded, and that the Board is therefore not required to establish their non-viability. [8: ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-America Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W. 2d 371, 381 (Mo. 1993).] 

	Salgueiro first contends that the complaint fails to state facts to form a basis for discipline of his medical license.  We disagree.  The court of appeals has described the required degree of specificity for factual allegations as follows:

The specificity of charges could be at essentially three levels.  The most general is simply a statement that the accused has violated one or more of the statutory grounds for discipline without further elaboration, i.e., he has been grossly negligent. Such as allegation is insufficient to allow preparation of a viable defense.  The second level involves a greater specificity in setting forth the course of 



conduct deemed to establish the statutory ground for discipline. The third level involves a degree of specificity setting forth each specific individual act or omission comprising the course of conduct. Due process requires no more than compliance with the second level.[[footnoteRef:9]] [9: Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng'rs and Land Surveyors, 744 S.W.2d 524, 539 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988) (citations omitted).] 


The complaint alleges violations of federal and state drug laws by Salgueiro as grounds for discipline under §334.100.2, and meets the second level of specificity described in Duncan.  The Board alleges in the complaint that Salgueiro entered into a settlement agreement that limits and restricts his BNDD registration and thus is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2(23).  The complaint does not include any allegations of underlying conduct that constitute cause for discipline under § 334.100(13), but it attaches and references the settlement agreement.  The settlement agreement contains a detailed description of several acts and omissions of Salgueiro that the Board alleges are violations of federal and state drug laws.  Read with the attached settlement agreement, the complaint is sufficiently specific to meet due process requirements and to allow Salgueiro to have prepared a viable defense.  We note that Salgueiro was sufficiently apprised of the nature of the allegations against him that he supplemented the pleadings with his own statement of additional facts, both in his answer to the complaint and in response to the motion for summary decision.  We find no merit to Salgueiro’s challenge to the sufficiency of the complaint.
	As his second “affirmative defense,” Salgueiro argues that “[e]ven if the Commission finds one or more of the allegations contained in petitioner’s Complaint to be true, any attempt to discipline or restrict respondent’s medical license for mere unintentional, technical violations of procedural regulations or laws that caused no harm to the public or any patient would be arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, and constitute an abuse of petitioner’s discretion.”   An 


affirmative defense alleges facts in addition to those that address the elements of a claim so that, even if petitioner proves every element of such claim, the defense defeats it.[footnoteRef:10]  The claim here is that Salgueiro is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2; Salgueiro’s second affirmative defense sets forth no additional facts that would defeat this claim.   [10: Parker v. Pine, 617 S.W.2d 536, 542 (Mo. App., W.D. 1981).] 

[bookmark: sp_999_3][bookmark: SDU_3][bookmark: FN_B12]	This is not an affirmative defense, but an attempted pre-emptive strike to keep the Commission from exercising its statutory jurisdiction.  We have no authority to differentiate “unintentional, technical violations of procedural regulations” because of the alleged lack of merit in imposing discipline for them; we may only determine the facts and decide whether, under the law, there is cause for discipline on those facts.  The appropriate discipline for any violation is left to the Board, and we have no power to superintend its decision.[footnoteRef:11]   [11: Missouri Health Facilities Review Comm. v. Administrative Hearing Comm'n,700 S.W.2d 445, 450 (Mo. banc 1985).] 

	Finally, Salgueiro contends that the Board has no or insufficient grounds for disciplining his license under §334.100.2(23) because the settlement agreement does not constitute “[r]evocation, suspension, limitation or restriction” of his controlled substance authority because the settlement agreement places no restrictions on Salgueiro’s controlled substance authority beyond those that apply to every licensee.  We address this contention more fully below, but find that it is a denial of the Board’s allegation, and not a properly pleaded affirmative defense.
II.  Cause for Discipline - §334.100.2(13)
1.  Salgueiro violated drug laws.
	The Board maintains that the violations of drug laws Salgueiro stipulated to in the BNDD settlement agreement are sufficient to provide a basis to discipline Salgueiro’s license.  Salgueiro objects to the Board’s reliance on the stipulations in the settlement agreement, and maintains that there is a genuine dispute as to “certain of the facts” with regard to the alleged drug law 


violations.  Statutes and case law instruct that we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.[footnoteRef:12]  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted[footnoteRef:13] allow discipline under the law cited.   [12: Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Commission, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456-57 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  ]  [13: We note that, pursuant to 1 CSR 15-3.446(5)(B), “admissible evidence” to support a summary decision includes a “stipulation, pleading of the adverse party, discovery response of the adverse party, affidavit, or other evidence admissible under the law.”  ] 

	Salgueiro denies violating the drug laws stipulated to in the settlement agreement, but his protestations are made moot by his admissions in his answer that he committed the very acts constituting the violations.  Although the Board relies heavily on the settlement agreement to establish its case, we feel confident that, when taken together with statements in Salgueiro’s deposition, his admissions in his answer to the complaint, and his response to the Board’s motion for summary decision, there is sufficient basis for our findings.
2.  Salgueiro failed to change his 
practice address properly with BNDD.
	In his answer and in his suggestions in opposition to the motion for summary decision, Salgueiro admits that his new practice address was incorrectly stated as “310 North Main” on a change of address form submitted to BNDD on July 25, 2008.  He further admits that the error was not corrected until February 23, 2009, when he submitted a second change of address form with BNDD.  19 CSR 30-1.017(4) describes what information is required on applications for a Missouri Controlled Substance Registration:
(B)  Applicant Information.  The applicant must provide his or her full legal name and practice location that is not a post office box.
(Emphasis added.)  We find that Salgueiro violated 19 CSR 30-1.017(4).




3.  Salgueiro prescribed controlled substances 
when he lacked BNDD registration.
	Salgueiro admits that he prescribed controlled substances from February 23, 2009, to March 30, 2009, both in his answer and in his suggestions in opposition to the motion for summary decision. 19 CSR 30-1.019(2) provides:
A controlled substance registration shall be issued to an individual practitioner at a Missouri practice location where controlled substance and other patient activities occur[.]

(Emphasis added.)  We find that Salgueiro violated 19 CSR 30-1.019(2).

4.  Salgueiro was required to, but failed to 
obtain a Federal DEA registration.
	Salgueiro admits that he lacked a DEA registration from the State of Missouri from 
May 5, 1999, through March 25, 2009.  21 CFR § 1301.11 states:
(a)  Every person who manufactures, distributes, dispenses, imports, or exports any controlled substance or who proposes to engage in the manufacture, distribution, dispensing, importation or exportation of any controlled substance shall obtain a registration unless exempted by law or pursuant to Secs. 1301.22-1301.26. . . . [O]nly persons actually engaged in such activities are required to obtain a registration; related or affiliated persons who are not engaged in such activities are not required to be registered. . . .

As a person engaged in dispensing controlled substances (as we found above), Salgueiro was required to obtain a DEA registration.  21 § CFR 1301.13(a) states:
Any person who is required to be registered and who is not so registered may apply for registration at any time.  No person required to be registered shall engage in any activity for which registration is required until the application for registration is granted and a Certificate of Registration is issued by the Administrator to such person.





We find that Salgueiro violated both 21 CFR § 1301.11 and 21 CFR § 1301.13(a) by failing to apply for and maintain a current DEA registration while engaged in dispensing controlled substances in Missouri.  
	Salgueiro does not dispute the facts underlying these violations.  Because these are state and federal drug laws, their violation constitutes cause for discipline under § 334.100.2(13).
III.  Cause for Discipline – § 334.100.2(23)
	Section 334.100.2(23) allows discipline in the event of “revocation, suspension, limitation, or restriction of any kind whatsoever of any controlled substance authority, whether agreed to voluntarily or not.”  As evidence that Salgueiro’s controlled substance authority has been limited or restricted, the Board offers the settlement agreement that Salgueiro entered into with BNDD, which expressly provides:
In light of the foregoing stipulation of facts and in order to provide adequate security against theft and diversion of controlled substances, Dr. Salgueiro and [BNDD] hereby consent and agree that [BNDD] shall continue to issue Dr. Salgueiro a Missouri Controlled Substances Registration, under probation . . . under the following terms. . . .
	The settlement agreement then lists over twenty terms and conditions with which Salgueiro must comply.  Salgueiro argues that many of these conditions are not “restrictions” or “limitations” on his registration, but mere recitals of existing statutory or regulatory provisions with which all licensees must comply.  This may be true as to Terms 1, 2, and 3, which, in particular, mirror statutory or regulatory requirements.  However, the settlement agreement goes on to impose significant limitations and restrictions on Salgueiro’s ability to continue to exercise controlled substance authority.
	Term 9 of the settlement agreement provides:  
Within 30 days of the execution of this Agreement, Dr. Salgueiro shall notify each of his practice locations, employer, long-term 


care facility, hospital, clinic or other location where he conducts activities with controlled substance authority, of this Agreement.
Failure to comply with this term, we presume, would be a material breach of the settlement agreement and would result in immediate revocation of Salgueiro’s BNDD registration.  Given that the settlement contains more than five pages of stipulated facts in which Salgueiro admits to numerous violations of state and federal drug laws, and further admits that cause exists to deny his application for a Missouri controlled substance registration, requiring Salgueiro to disclose the settlement agreement to his employers and professional colleagues is a burdensome and potentially stigmatizing obligation to which unrestricted registrants are not subjected.  
	Salgueiro points to several prior decisions of this Commission that failed to find a “limitation or restriction” on a controlled substance registrant where the terms of a settlement agreement did no more than recite existing statutory or regulatory provisions; these cases provide some guidance in our analysis, but are not binding precedents.  A “limitation” is “something that limits:  RESTRAINT.”[footnoteRef:14]  A “restriction” is defined as “something that restricts:  as a : a regulation that restricts or restrains . . . b : a limitation on the use or enjoyment of  property or a facility.”[footnoteRef:15]    By these definitions, we have no doubt that Term 9 of the settlement agreement goes beyond requiring Salgueiro to comply with current statutes and regulations; its disclosure requirement imposes limitations and restrictions on Salgueiro’s controlled substance registration.   [14: MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 722 (11th ed. 2004).]  [15: Id. at 1063.] 

	Term 17 of the settlement agreement further restricts Salgueiro’s controlled substance registration.  It states:  “Dr. Salgueiro agrees that [BNDD] and the Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts shall have access to all required controlled drug records at any time during regular office hours.”  We agree with Salgueiro that this term corresponds with      19 CSR 30-1.041(2), which provides:  



2.  Maintenance of Records and Inventories.  Every inventory and other record required to be kept under 19 CSR 30-1.041-19 CSR 30-1.052, shall be kept by the registrant and be available, for at least two years from the date of the inventory or record, for inspecting and copying by authorized employees of the Department of Health, except that financial and shipping records (such as invoices and packing slips, but not executed order forms) may be kept at a central location rather than at the registered location if the registrant obtains from the Department of Health approval of his/her central record keeping system and a permit to keep central records. . . .

Salgueiro also points to this term’s foundation in § 195.375,[footnoteRef:16] which authorizes BNDD to obtain an administrative warrant, based on a showing of probable cause, to conduct administrative inspections of a registrant’s “controlled premises” and to seize property.  But Term 17 exceeds both the regulation and statute, in that not only are the Department of Health’s employees and BNDD allowed to conduct inspections, but the DEA and the Board also are given the same access to all of Salgueiro’s controlled substances drug records, without a prior showing of probable cause.   [16: RSMo 2000.] 

	Salgueiro acknowledges that a practitioner’s consent to unannounced, warrantless inspections as part of a settlement agreement has been previously found by this Commission to constitute a limitation or restriction on that practitioner’s controlled substance authority as provided in § 334.100.2(23).[footnoteRef:17]  Again, we are not bound by this Commission’s prior decisions, but we note that Terms 17’s authorization of warrantless searches by the Department of Health, BNDD, DEA, and the Board is a clear limitation and restriction imposed on Salgueiro’s controlled substance authority.  When he entered into the settlement agreement with BNDD, Salgueiro accepted these limitations and restrictions as a condition of his continued BNDD registration. [17: State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Taylor, No. 00-2915 HA (May 3, 2002).] 



	We are further persuaded that Salgueiro’s controlled substance authority was limited or restricted by his entering into the BNDD settlement agreement because the settlement agreement unambiguously states that Salgueiro’s registration was issued “under probation.”  “Probation” is defined as:

1 : critical examination and evaluation or subjection to such examination and evaluation; 2 a : subjection of an individual to a period of testing and trial to ascertain fitness (as for a job or school) b : the action of suspending the sentence of a convicted offender and giving the offender freedom during good behavior under the supervision of a probation officer  c : the state or a period of being subject to probation.[[footnoteRef:18]]  [18: MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 989 (11th ed. 2004).] 

His registration to distribute controlled substances was issued conditionally, subjecting Salgueiro to a three-year period of “testing and trial” and “critical examination and evaluation” to ascertain his fitness to continue as a registrant.  During this probationary period, Salgueiro’s controlled substance authority could conceivably be revoked for violating the terms of the settlement agreement, not just for statutory or regulatory violations.  
[bookmark: SR;4230]	We expressly reject Salgueiro’s argument that the legislature’s exclusion of probation as one of the possible grounds for discipline under § 334.100.2(23) signals its intent that it be omitted.  We utilize rules of statutory construction to assist in our task of ascertaining legislative intent only when an ambiguity arises from the words themselves.[footnoteRef:19]  Because we find the meaning of “limitation or restriction” in § 334.100.2(23) to be plain and clear to a person of ordinary intelligence,[footnoteRef:20] we need not resort to the maxim of expression unius est exclusio alterius or to any other any rule of construction; rather, we must give effect to the statute's words as they are  [19: Grubbs v. Treasurer of Mo. as Custodian of the Second Injury Fund, 298 S.W.3d 907, 911 (Mo. App., E.D. 2009).]  [20: See Wolff Shoe Co. v. Dir. of Revenue, 762 S.W.2d 29, 31 (Mo. banc 1988) (defining ambiguity).] 





written.[footnoteRef:21]  We find that probation is, in and of itself, a significant restriction or limitation on Salgueiro’s BNDD registration.  We find cause to discipline Salgueiro under § 334.100.2(23). [21: City of Bridgeton v. Titlemax of Mo., 292 S.W.3d 530, 536 (Mo. App., E.D. 2009).] 

Summary
	We grant the Board’s motion for summary decision and find cause to discipline Salgueiro under § 334.100.2(13) and (23).  
	SO ORDERED on February 22, 2011.

		_________________________________
		MARY E. NELSON
		Commissioner
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